The History of Old Nuneaton Families

by Peter Lee
(Work in Progress 1989-continuing
Please bear with me as this information is updated each week. The general rule is that the family must have lived in the area for more than one generation and before 1900.
Bedworth Families will be dealt with separately

ABBOTT
ADAMS
ADCOCK
ADDERLEY
ADKINS 
ALCOTT 
ALDRIDGE
ALEXANDER

The earliest records show this family established by the 17th century and John And Thomas Alexander appear in the Hearth Tax. In 1680 they are brick makers and continue in this trade until the l8th.c. Descendents of John Alexander who married Martha Watts in 1784 went to live in Wakefield and Burnley. One, Thomas Alexander (1790?-1855) joined the 1st. Battalion of Foot at Hastings and enlisted to fight in the Napoleonic Wars.
ALLEN
ANTROBUS
ARCHER
ARDEN
ARGYLE
ARMSTEAD
ARNOLD
ARON
ARUNDELL
ASHBY
ASTLEY

This is one of the very earliest family names still extant today and probably emanates from the village of Astley close by. The village was recorded in the 12th century as Eastlea and by 1166 Phillip de Estlega held three knight's fees of which Astley was one, of William, Earl of Warwick. His descendent Thomas de Estleye, was killed at the Battle of Evesham in 1265. In 1285 Andrew, Thomas's son and heir was allowed free warren and in 1300 he held the manor. The last of the male line of this noble family's male line Sir William de Astley died in 1420. Sir William's daughter and heiress Joan married Reynold, Lord Ferrers of Groby. Somehow the Astley name did not die out in the village of that name as the surname is still recorded in Astley parish records in the 18th. century. It is thought that Astleys Ltd the well known Coventry firm of paint, engineering and decorators suppliers, are descended from that line.

ASTON 
ATHERSTON
ATKINS 
ATTLEBORO

ATWOOD
AUCOTT
AVERY 
BACON

There was Francis Bacon (
-1682), vicar of Ansley. Another Bacon, William Bacon

(1742- ) was born in Denby, Derbyshire and was seeking settlement in Nuneaton on 28th May 1793. There were other Bacons, Thomas Bacon bought four houses in 1785. He was related to Rev. William Bacon of Bedford.
BAKER
BALL
An important line of the Ball family was connected with Hydes Pastures near Hinckley back as far as 1702. This family were probably connected to the Nuneaton Balls who go well back into the 1600's locally. The ancient family of Balls originally came from Axminster and Mamhead in Devon. There certainly seems to be two distinct parts of the family, one of these Thomas Ball, gent. died leaving £60,000 in his will which was a great fortune in December

1819. He was one of those that were landed and very rich. Others who were amongst the
(7n-fa

poorest labouring classes of Nuneaton. On 20th May 1849 Thomas Ball died of arsenic
Roe_ A, poisoning supposedly administered by his wife, Mary Ball. They were a most unfortunate family since they had six children five of whom had died in infancy. Mary was found guilty and tragically she was publicly hanged in Coventry. The last woman in Warwickshire to be publicly hung. Many thousands turned out to watch this horrible spectacle. (see Mary Ball Web site through a link on this web site)
BALLARD

Another ancient name in these parts being recorded in the 1600's. In the Hearth Tax there were four families: Thomas Ballard of Attleborough; Mark Ballard of Caldecote; John Ballard

of Griff; William Ballard of Nuneaton. A prominent Ballard in the 19th century was Michael

Ballard, Auctioneer, Appraiser, General Agent, High Bailiff to Nuneaton who was a member 

of the Warwickshire Yeomanry from 14th April 1852. There is a Ballard's Green at Arley

which may well have a connection with this family?
BARACLOUGH
John Baraclough the bookseller and stationer was born on 26th February 1754, eldest son of Samuel and Mary Baraclough. As far as I can tell Samuel Baraclough was the progenitor of this line. John married Ann Finch on 4th May 1773. He was described in an advert of 19th

March 1800: John Baraclough, for Books, Hand Bills, and a press for printing copper plates. Mill Lane, Nuneaton, He also kept a music warehouse By 1830 the firm he had founded in 1778 had moved to Back Street and to Abbey Street by 1850. There appears to be three generations of Baraclough associated with this business which was sold on in the 1870's. Possibly it was purchased by William Wilson the first proprietor of the Nuneaton Observer. John Baraclough was a character in George Eliot's "Scenes of Clerical Life" where in Janet's Repentance, one of three novellas within her study of Nuneaton and Chilvers Coton life she wrote:.... "Her reading had been more extensive than her sisters, embracing most of the fiction in Mr. Procter's circulating library". For Mr Baraclough had a lending library as well as sold books.
Other members of this same family Albert and William Baraclough were stone masons who lived and worked in Church Street up until the middle of the I 9th.c. Many of the slate headstones dotted around the local churchyard have the words Baraclough engraved on the backs of them.

BANKES
BARESBY
BARFORD
BARNACLE
BARTON
BASSET 
BATES
BAYLY (BAYLEY, BAYLIE, BAYLEY)
BEALE

The surname Beale is thought to originate from the old French "Bale" meaning Beautiful. The family may originate in the Midlands although it has only been possible to trace them to the 16th. century locally. A feature of the local Beales (which moved out of Nuneaton, or part of the family, to the Mancetter area) was the Christian name: Middlemore. This stems from the marriage of Richard Beale (1610 - ) and Dorothy Middlemore (1610-1664) of Delapre, Northamptonshire.
BEAMISH

The Beamishes are a very old Nuneaton group the earliest being recorded in the 1600's. (Samuel 1603 - ) The family was associated with Chilvers Coton church for many years. They were bell ringers. They were also connected with several long lived licences as victuallers Edward Beamish (1765-
) kept the Peacock in the Market Place. Job Beamish was victualler of the Hare and Squirrell. Their connection with the Peacock lasted upwards of 40 years. The Beamish licensees of the Peacock were also plumbers and glaziers and by the 1870's had moved to No. 6, Church Street where again it traded for many years before being taken over by Percy Roe.
BEASLEY 
BECK
BEET

The earliest Be(e)t we can find is Jane Beat who married at Burton Hastings in 1740. We have also a John Beet who wed Susannah Hankinson on 5th May 1791 in Nuneaton. He was a husbandman. They had two sons John (1792-1848) and Richard (1799-1873). Both brothers went into the butchery trade. Richard Beet was a farmer and butcher at Weddington; in his twilight years in 1871 is listed as a farmer with four acres of land (presumably in Weddington) whilst his residence was in Peacock Road (now King Edward Road) and John's son Dickenson (1815-1900) was a dealer in poultry and butcher. A grandson John Beet (1819- ?) kept the Half Moon public house for some years and there was some tie up with the Swinnerton family because one line of descendents took the line Swinnerton-Beet.
BEIGHTON
BELL
BENNETT
BETTS
BIGGS
BILLINGTON
BINDLEY

There was a Bindley family living in Nuneaton in the 17th century and the name was also modified to Binley and Brindley. William Bindley had a brickyard in Wash Lane (now Queens Road) roughly where the Nags Head Pub is now located. Bindleys yard and cottages were demolished to make way for the Nags Head in 1927.
BIRD
BLACKWELL
BLAXTON
BLITHE (BLITH, BLYTHE) 
BLOCK
BOFFIN

The name Boffin is also written as Baughen and Baffin. It may be of continental origin. All the Nuneaton Boffins stem from Joseph Boffin (c.1757-1820) who came from Mollington, Oxfordshire. This county seems to the ancient home of the Boffin family. Of course, most Nuneaton people who can remember far enough back can remember Boffins cafe in the arcade which used to run between the Market Place and Newdigate Street with its delicious smells and shilling dinners.
BOLES WORTH
BONNER
BOON(E)
BOSTOCK

The name Bostock derives from a large piece of timber used in boat building. 
BOSWELL
BRADFORD
BRATE (BRETT) BRAY

There was an Edmundus Bray at Chilvers Coton in the 15th year of the reign of Henry 8th. (/f2) William and Henry were millers on the Arbury estate. They may be related to the Coventry Brays of whom Charles Bray, proprietor of the Coventry Herald newspaper, was a friend of George Eliot.
BREARLEY 
BRIGGS
BRITTAINE 
BROADNECK 
BROOKES
BROWN(E)
BROWNING 
BUCHANAN

It seems probable that this family were of Scottish origin. (Buchanan of Buchanan). James Williams Buchanan was described by George Eliot as a tall and massive man who made a happy marriage with a local girl: Nancy Wallington, in 1825; gradually turning into a bully. He later was described as a drunkard inseparable from his snuff box. James Buchanan was partner of George Greenway, in a local law firm. He is immortalised in George Eliot as "Lawyer Dempster" in "Scenes of Clerical Life". Although there were two Lawyer Dempsters in the Nuneaton area at the time of GE’s residency– J.W.Buchanan and Dempster Heming, Recorder of Calcutta.
BUCKLER

The spelling of Buckler is often found in the Nuneaton area but less so elsewhere. It might have been a derivation of Butler or be descended from the French; Buclar, Bucler, or Bokeler. The name was certainly around locally in the 16th century.
BUNNEY
BURBAGE, (BURBIDGE)

BURDITT
BURGIS (BURGESS)
BURROWES 
BURTON
BUTLER
CALDECOT
CAMPION (COMPTON)

CANTRILL
CAPENHURST
CARTER

Carter is a trade name and there are many families who got their names derived from this profession from the 14th. century onwards. There was a local group of Carters who live at Attleborough which probably originated in Dunchurch and came to this area via Wolvey and Copston Magna. They married into the Wrights, Rowleys and Dafferns amongst others.
CHAMBERLAIN (CHAMBERLIN)
CHANDLER
CHAPMAN
CHATTERTON
CHECKLEY

CHESHIRE
CHIPMAN
CHOYCE

The Choyce family go back in Nuneaton into the late 18th century. The family will be dealt with in great depth by a new book to be published by Betty Choyce Sheehan of Florida, USA. called the "Choyce Family Compendium",

it is estimated to run to 700 pages and will deal with all those Choyces which lived locally and in Leicestershire.
CLAY(CLEY)
There are diverse families of Clays and distribution maps show them all over the Midlands co-incidentally in area where clay was worked and bricks, tiles and terracotta goods manufactured. It seems likely that this name originates from this association with cIayworking. *

CLEMENTS
CLEW(S)
COOK(E)
COOPER

This name probably derives from the trade of wooden barrel making. It is, of course, well known locally and there was a notable family in Chilvers Coton who were silk weavers. It is not clear whether these stem from Leicestershire where a well documented group lived whose Sapcote/Stoney Stanton pedigree was published by John Nichols who stated that they were originally spelt as Cowper and came from Cheshire in antiquity.
CORBEY

CORBETT 
COVENTRY

CRAD(D)OCK
CROSS(E)

CROXALL
DAFFERN (DAFFORNE, DAFFORN, DAFFARNE, DAFFIN, DAFFON) (ç d72
>f

Daffern seems to have originated in Warwickshire both in the north and south of the county during the 1500's with odd incursions into Staffordshire and Leicestershire. By 1600 larger groups were known in Leicestershire and Gloucestershire. The name is variously spelt Dafforn, Daffome, Dafferne, Daffin and it is thought that these are all interrelated. It is supposed that the name means 'Daft-One' but it might have a more subtle origin and could have come from the continent before 1500.
DAFT
DAGLEY
When Arbury Hall was a priory the prior was Sir Thomas Dagley who died in 1567. The Dagleys continued to have an association with the Arbury Estate long after the Arbury ecclesiastical house was destroyed (Joseph Dagley b.1692 was a gardener at Arbury) and the land was owned by the Newdigate family. However by this time their fortunes had diminished and they were living in the Stockingford area in the 19th. century in rather reduced circumstances. One of the Stockingford Dagleys, Joseph Dagley, became a prominent independent preacher and the Chapel at Chapel End was founded by him.
DALE
DARBY

DAULMAN

This name is often mixed up with Dolman, Dorman and Delman, but the Daulmans are a

specific local family which are said,to be derived from a German ancestral root called Daulmann. But this now seems unlikely and they may have come from Tamworth. The local ones are all the fruits of the marriage of War Daulman (Dorman) who married Sarah Ashby at Chilvers Caton on 26th July 1759. The distinctive Christian name c War is perpetuated through the generations to the Daulmans of the present day.
DAVIS
DAWES
DAWKINS
DEPPER

An unusual surname that did not appear in Nuneaton until Robert Depper came from Feckenham in Worcestershire who came to live at Robinson's End Stockingford before 1851 and it is from this one man that all Deppers locally are descended.
DEVONSHIRE
DEWIS

DIALL
DRAKEFORD
DRAKELEY

DRAYTON

DREW
DUELL (DREWELL) 
DUFFKIN
DUDLEY

The Dudleys were an ancient group and a leading family in Nuneaton in the 18th century. Edward Dudley (1693-1775) left £12,000 in his will (a vast fortune at the time) together with two silver chalices which became part of the plate of St. Nicholas Parish Church. Several generations later worked on the railway.
DUNCKLEY
EARP
EBDELL 
EBURY 
EDALL 
ELLIS
ENSOR

This family originated in the 13th century around the villages of Hartington and Edensor in the county of Derbyshire. Over five centuries they can be tracked heading south from Derbyshire towards Nuneaton.
EVANS
EVERATT (EVERITT)
Mentioned in the Constable Survey of 1543/4 William Everatt occupied land in Church End and Wayttes Lane (Wheat Lane).
FAIRCHILD 
FARMER

The local Farmers may have came from Northamptonshire where they were known as Fermor and were possibly of French Norman descent. There is no direct link yet proven but by the 1500's the family were well established in Ratcliffe Culey.and shortly scattered around adjacent parishes by the 1600's, Nether Whitacre, Baddesley Ensor, Baxterley, Oldbury, Witherley, Ansley and a leading citizen of Nuneaton was John Farmer, maltster and tanner, (1663-1727). his nephew was Dr. Richard Farmer, Master of Emmanuel College, Cambridge. (1735-1797) one of the country's most learned Shakespeare scholars. The Farmers were a county family and married into the Byrons (of Lord Byron fame), the Purefoys, the Okeovers, Ludfords, Fishers. The Ansley branch migrated to Billerica, Massachusetts and one of these John Farmer became the founder of the New England Genealogical Society.
FARENHAM
FAWCETT
FISHER

FLOOD
FLOYD
FORCION 
FORD
FORRYAN
The Forryan line stems back to Burbage in Leicestershire and possibly earlier in Markfield. They did not come to the Nuneaton area until the turn of this century. The earliest here appears to be Joseph Forryan (1867-1935) who married Mary Hubbard who moved into this area in 1896 and was married in 1897.Joseph probably worked in one of the brickyards in Stockingford.
FORTESCUE

Also spelt locally Fortiscue. Probably descended from the Norman French armigerous family who came over with William the Conqueror and in return for their valour at the Battle of Hastings were given large estates, particularly in Devon. This family are one of the noblest in the kingdom. But fortune does not seem to have smiled greatly on our local Fortescues which can be traced back to Mancetter in 1681 before moving to Nuneaton and Attleborough in the 18th. century. Some were typically gardeners, one died in the workhouse; and another branch through an illegitimate birth to Mary Fortescue (b. Attleborough 1797 -
) was founded in Leicestershire and figured prominently in the stone quarrying and sett making industries travelling as far as Scotland and Trefor in North Wales. One of the last of the line,

Edgar Fortescue (1903-
). In his 90's he has written two books, one giving his life's history and had recently bought a computer!
FOSTER
FOX
FRANCIS
FREER
FREESTONE
FRISWELL
FROST
GADSBY
Gadsby Street in Attleborough is derived from one of this family: William Gadsby (1773- 1844) an Attleborough man who became an independent preacher. The Gadsby's originated from Coventry when John Gadsby (a shag weaver)'s son (1720?-1816) came to live in Attleborough. He married twice and had seven children by his first wife Elizabeth who died before 1770 when he married his second wife Mary Lingard who had a further eight children one of whom was William. Another son John (1808-?) had three wives and became a book publisher and oriental lecturer.
GARNETT
GARRET
GEE (JEE) 
GIBSON 
GILBERT
GISBURNE (GISBORNE)
GLOVER
GODDARD
GOLBY

Goldby, Golby, Goadby, Goodby, Godby, Goalby, Goldsby etc are all derivatives of an ancient group known in this area since the 14th.c. Many stem from this area of Warwickshire, but there are a few in Leicestershire and there is a village called Goadby in Leicestershire which might be where their ancient roots stem from. They are well represented in Chilvers Coton and Ansley.
GOLDINGE 
GOODACRE 
GREEN(E)

There was a William, Edward and John Grene, tenants noted in 1543/4. There were several family groups in the 19th. century including one silk ribbon manufacturer: 'Crack Green" with his two ribbon factories in Abbey Street. One Green family at Attleborough has a branch which were antique dealers in Abbey Street. Another branch of the Nuneaton Greens emigrated to Sioux City, Iowa.
G REENWAY 
GRIFFIN
GROWDIGE 
GUY
HACKETT
There was a prominent family of Hacketts in Attleborough. Joshua Hackett (1749-1828) who married Ann Cox (1754-1835) was the progenitor of this line. They lived in Hall End for generations. They kept a beer house after 1830 "The Woodman", Hall End, Attleborough where the lived for four generations. Their trade was sawyers and wood turners.
HADDON

James Haddon married Elizabeth Kelly in 1765 at Nuneaton. Their grandson George Haddon married Phoebe Marshall in Portsmouth on 4th October 1830. He enlisted in the Royal Marines at Coventry on June 26th 1820. He served on the HMS Victory in 1824. His naval career lasted until 1840when he returned to Stockingford. The Haddons married into the Halls, Morris's, Moretons and Gotts of Norfolk - but later in Nuneaton.
HALES
HALL
HALSALL
HALLISLEY 
HAMBROUGH
HANCOX
HAND(S) 
HANDLEY

Handleys were formerly in the south of the county around Kenilworth and Barford. The Nuneaton ones usually associated with Stockingford stem from Polesworth about 1800. Walter Handley (
-1865) had a brickworks in Stockingford was also a victualler (the Black Horse) and sunk a colliery in Swan Lane (Croft Road) in June 1837. In 1833 Charles and Elizabeth Handley were living in Chilvers Coton. Walter's daughter, Sarah married David Wheway ( -1868) and after his death the brickyard was taken over by Stanley & Broadbent and became part of the brickyard empire of Stanley Bros.
HANKINSON

These are expected to be unique to North Warwickshire. The progenitor of the Hankinsons appear to be Thomas & Elizabeth who started to produce children in the parish of Astley in 1669. They were later scattered around, Hartshill, Mancetter, Atherstone, Coventry and Birmingham.
HARPUR
HARRIS
HARRISON
HASTILOW (HASTELOW)
HARPUR

HARVEY
HAWKINS
HAWKSFORD
HAYCOCK
HEMING

HENNEY


John Henney (1774-
) born in Tamworth was living in Snow Hill, Stockingford in 1851. His son Thomas Henney was born in Witherley, Leicestershire in 1805. He married Mary Gadsby (1797-1848) at Heather, Leicestershire in 1824 and he died in Bond Street, Nuneaton on 28th August 1879. They had seven children all but one born in Nuneaton.
HEWITT
HEXTALL

A legend in this family suggests that the first Hextall came down from the north in 1485 as a soldier in the Northern army, possibly one of Lord Stanley's men, who fought on the winning side in the Battle of Bosworth. They certainly lived in the Sutton Cheney, Shackerstone for many years. They later migrated to Nuneaton possibly through railway work.
HIGGINS 
HILL
HINCKLEY 
HINCKS

Thomas Hincks was the town miller at Nuneaton. He died in 1843 when the mill was run by his son in law, Thomas Hollick. Mr. Hincks was depicted as Mr. Tomlinson in George Eliot's "Scenes of Clerical Life".
HIPWORTH 
HOLBECHE 
HOLLICK

Thomas Hollick (1809-1867) took over the Nuneaton town mill from his father in law Thomas Hincks when he died in 1843. He married Olivia Hincks. They had seven children. He died at Cowlack House, Llandudno on 23rd November 1867. The name Hollick may derive from Germanic roots. There are both Holik and Hollick names in Dutch and German families.
HOLMES
HOOD
HUNT
HUNTER
HURLEY

The earliest I know was Richard Matthew Hurley born in Attleborough in 1822 at Attleborough. He married Mary Wagstaff in 1843. By the 1860's the family were living in Birmingham. Richard Matthew Hurley was a miller employed at the town mill in 1851.
HURST
JACKSON
JACOMBS

Thanks to a one name study we know a great deal about the Jacombs families. They are probably of continental descent. The earliest spellings appear as Jacom, Jacam, Jacombe. Most, but not all, originate from Warwickshire and Edward Jacom (1640? - ) and Francis Jacom (1640? - ) are the earliest so far traced in a direct line. They were probably brothers but the records are silent regarding their parents. There are sporadic references, for example on 14.7.1539 there is a will of Robert Jacom of Stretton le Field.

In the parish registers of Burnham Thorpe in Norfolk the name of Robert Jacomb and Horatio Nelson appear side by side as witnesses at a wedding.
JACQUES

In the 16th century this appears as Jekes, again it might be of continental origin.

JEFFREY
JELLIFFE
JENSON
JEPHCOTE

In the 1851 census this name with all its derivative spellings was the largest surname group. Derivatives are Jeffcote, Jeffcot, Jeffcoat, Jescott, Jescoat, Jephcoat, Jephcott, Jefcoate, etc. Perhaps the most interesting member of the family is James Jephcoat (1802-
) of Hall End, Attleborough, "Sawyer and Hangsman for the County'.

JELLEY

This family stem from Leicestershire in the 16th century, although there was a Richard Jely in the Market Place in 1543/4 between 1803 and 1806 Robert Jelley of Leicester (1780-
) a stonemason, came to Nuneaton and had 10 children here. This family carried on as stonemasons for about 50 years. The name Jelley appears on many headstones in our local cemeteries.
JERHAM

Robert Jerham was a tenant in Abbey End in 1543/4 
JOHNSON
JONES
JUDKINS
JUMBLEY
KEENE

Also Keen
KELSEY

The Kelseys are particularly associated with Astley and Ansley parishes from 1730 onwards. This same group were also just over the border in Leicestershire.
KINDER
KING
KNIGHT
KNOTT

The Knotts were for many years servants at Arbury Hall. John Knott (1788-1841) was a footman there and also kept the Fleur de Lys public house which was owned by the Newdigate family. The Knotts married into several old Chilvers Coton families including the Worthingtons, the Dafferns and the Neaths.
KNOX
LAKIN
LARGE
LAWKINS
LAX
LEE
LEES
LENTON
LETTS
LESTER

The Lesters were in Attleborough in the 18th century. In 1872 Henry Lester founded the business which traded in the Market Place for 90 odd years. Lesters the Chemists. The Lesters married into the Scriveners.
LIGGINS
LILLEY

The Nuneaton/Attleborough Lilleys seem to have sprung from Weeford in Staffordshire in the 1730's. By the 1750's they have settled at Attleborough, Thomas Lilley the progenitor has a son, John there in 1751. Perhaps the best known Lilley was Thomas John or "Tuddy" Lilley, landlord of the Newdigate Arms Inn.
LIPTROTT

The Liptrotts, clerics and schoolmasters settled in Nuneaton in 1698 when James Liptrott, master of Nuneaton Grammar School was appointed. He was the son of William Liptrott, master of Kings School, Chester. When James died in 1712 his post was taken over by his oldest son William who had been educated at Brazenose College, Oxford. When he died in 1731 it was taken over by his younger brother Thomas who was rector of Drayton and Weddington. He died aged 90/91 in 1797.
LOADER
LOCKLEY
LUCAS

MALLABONE
This name probably evolved in antiquity from Malbon, a name once found in Cheshire. Possibly it is of French origin because there was an Ellen de Malbanc who was the second wife of Sir Robert de Stokeport in 1268. In more recent times the centre of the Mallabone universe seemed to centre around the parishes of Bedworth, Chilvers Colon and Nuneaton. The oldest researched so far being Robert Mallabone (1650-1737) who married Mary Morris who were the progenitors of a line which lived at Cuttle Mill in Chilvers Coton (on the Wembrook near where the Nuneaton Boy's Club is situated). Religion played a major part in the life of the 17th, 18th and 19th century Mallabones, a descendent John Mallabone (17111801) was a member of the Church of Christ in Bedworth, another descendent of James Mallabone (1754-1816) was the Rev. John Mallabone Eustace (1847-1925). By contrast one of the Chilvers Coton Mallabones was a pugilist, Johnny Mallabone (1793-1874) who won a prize of £50 for a bare knuckle fight and with this money set up shop at the Jolly Colliers Inn, which the family kept for nigh on one hundred years..
MAN(N)
MARLER
MARLOW

Thomas Marlow (1790-1874) and William Marlow (1817-
)started a small family group in Nuneaton most of whom had moved to the suburbs of Birmingham by the beginning of the twentieth century.
MARSTON

The Marstons may date back to the de Merstons one of whom featured

in the Lay Subsidy rolls for 1332. The name may derive from the nearby hamlet of Marston Jabeett, which is now largely depopulated. They remained a significant family group over the last six hundred years in the area.
MASSEY
MATTHEWS 
MATTOCK
MAYO

Benjamin Thomas Mayo came from Coventry about 1870. He was born in that city in 1842 and was apprenticed to his father, William Mayo who was a watchmaker, in 1856. He moved to Attleborough and took over the licence of the Royal Oak, Attleborough. The family prospered and his son, Benjamin Herbert Mayo became an alderman and was also licensee of the Royal Oak like his father.
ME(T)DCALFE
MEIGHE
MILES
MILHOUSE
MILLER
MILLS

MOORE
MORETON

Moreton is an old local name particularly with regard to the insertion of the e in the middle as opposed to Morton. There was an Edward Moreton who married Elizabeth Cooper in 1658 but also a Job and Dorothy Morton who gave birth to Job Morton in 1663. It seems the name had a makeover so that all the local Moretons had that spelling by the 18th century.

Moretons featured prominently in Chilvers Caton and Nuneaton trade over the years.

NASON

For many years the name Nason was synonimous with the medical profession in Nuneaton. Their family tree goes back to Robert Nason who was alive in 1570. Many generations were clergy or doctors. The clerical side seems to date back to Rev. William Nason born about 1660, followed by Rev. Thomas Nason b.1692, his son.

There followed Rev. Stephen Nason, Vicar of Stratford upon Avon, William's grandson, and his son Rev. Edward Nason vicar of Anstey and Shilton. The first doctor Nason in Nuneaton was Edward Nason (1800-1868) He was educated at Christ's Hospital and received his professional education at Guy's Hospital. There followed his sons: Richard Bird Nason (1829-1896) and John James (?-1917). The medical and clerical interests followed through Edward Noel Nason (1860-1940) and his brother Richard Bird Nason (1858-?) Both Richard Bird Nason and his son Edward Noel were instrumental in the opening of the Nuneaton Cottage Hospital (later the Manor Hospital) and the Nason name is honoured in a ward of that name at the replacement George Eliot Hospital. A fitting tribute to a honourable family whose beneficence was a major contribution to town life in Nuneaton.
NEATH

Thomas Neath (1753-1829) was an agricultural labour who married at Haddon four miles from Stilton a famous village in Leicestershire. Well known for its cheese. By the 1851 census his son Thomas was in Blind Lane, Nuneaton, whilst his brother, William, (1792 )was established in Weddington by 1822. After a couple of generations in Nuneaton the family tended to migrate towards the Black Country, Halesowen and Bilston particularly, and then they returned to Nuneaton. Thomas Courtenay Neath (1864 - ) was born in Dudley but came back to Chilvers Colon where he was a church warden. His brother Charles Edward, (1867 - 1950) also born in Dudley was in Chilvers Caton by 1892. He became a manager of Fielding Johnson's factory on Attleborough Road, He was also a church warden at Chilvers Caton. The brothers had been orphaned in 1878 and this might have caused their return to relatives in the Nuneaton area. One of their offspring, Richard Ralph Neath, baptised at Chilvers Coton in 1899 was killed in the Battle of Jutland and was buried at sea.
NEWDIGATE

NOCK(E)
NORBURY
NUTT
OAKEY
OKEOVER
OLIVER
ORRELL
ORTON

This name was variously spelt Owton and Oughton and features as such in 1543/4 when

John Oughton (Owton) was a tenant of Robert Finder in the Abbey End, Nuneaton. It has

very wide coverage of this area, being particularly strong in North Warwickshire. The name

may derive from Orton on the Hill in Leicestershire.
OSBORNE
OVERS, (OWERS)
PALMER
PARKER
PARNELL
PAUL(E)
PAINE(PAYNE)
PEGG
PERKINS
PERRY
PHILLIPS
PICKARD
PIGNUTT
PINCHBACK

PITTAM
PORTER
POULTENEY
PRICE
PROCTOR
PUREFOY

The noble Purefoy line is very ancient and goes back into Leicestershire through many generations. The earliest recorded member is William Purefoy of Misterton who was alive in the year 1277. The family seat remained at Misterton until William Purefoy was listed at Brettes Hall, Ansley in the early 1500's. Bretts Hall was near to the later Ansley Hall and probably preceded it, but had been demolished by the early 1700s.

There was an Isabel Purefrey tenant of William Worshippe in the Market Place, Nuneaton in 1543. This Isabella might have been a nun at Nuneaton Abbey until it was closed on the orders of Henry VIII in 1539.

The family also had land in Middlesex and Derbyshire.
RANDALL (RANDLE)
RASON
RATLEIFE
RAWLEY
RAYNER
REPINGTON
REYNOLDS
RICHARDS
ROBERTS
ROBINSON 
ROBOTTOM

It seems the earliest Robottom locally was William Robottom who married Mary Bosworth on 29th April 1767. They had thirteen children, (twelve sons and one daughter) twelve of whom survived to be mentioned in William's will in 1799

ROCKET(T) 
ROGERS
ROSE
ROTHERAM
ROWLEY
RUSH
RYDER
SADLER
SALESBURY
SAND(E)S (SANDERS)

In the 1880's the Sands family were locally listed as joiners, carpenters and butchers. There was also listed an auction house Sands & Son, 17 Abbey Green, Nuneaton These organised a fortnightly cattle sale on the Newdigate Arms Ground, the sports field which was the precursor of Nuneaton cattle market which was built roughly on the same site. Prior to this, in 1850, it seems that all the Sands in trade were listed as joiners. Charles James Sandes who married Mary Webb on 16th June 1808, came from Coventry. From this union producing six sons and two daughters that most of the local Sands family are descended today.
SAVAGE
SCATTERGOOD
SCOTT
SCOTTON
SCRIVENER
SEARGENT
SHAKESPEARE
SHARRATT
SHARROD
SHAW

These feature in the Hearth Tax of 1662. Many were engaged in the ribbon trade and the local collieries, particularly in the Chilvers Coton area.

One of these, David Shaw gave evidence before the select committee on conditions in the

ribbon trade in 1832.
SHEEPY
SHEPPARD
SHILTON

Sarah Shilton, a local collier’s daughter was immortalised as Caterina Sarti by George Eliot in "Scenes of Clerical Life". As a beautiful singer she had captivated the Newdigate family and often performed at their parties. She was trained at Arbury Hall by Dominica Motta the music teacher of Hester, Lady Newdigate.

She married the rev. G.E.Ebdell, vicar of Chilvers Coton. The Shiltons were also a large network in the parishes of Mancetter and Bentley.
SHUTE

Abraham Shute came from Christchurch in Surrey in 1801. His descendents ran a very well known firm of tailors and clothiers in Queens Road. Abraham's grandson Edward A Shute inherited the business, and amongst Abraham's interests was amateur dramatics and he

wrote a splendid little book "Across the Footlights and open the 'Royal" a little theatre later a picture house in Stratford Street.

SIDWELL
The Sidwells are a large North Warwickshire group particularly in Bedworth, Chilvers Coton and Nuneaton. The name is said to derive from St. Sativola, She was an English saint from the Exeter area whose Shrine visitors have come to from before the first century AD. The symbols of this Saint are the scythe and a well and as a result of this Sithewell, Sithewelle, Sidewell and later Sidwell are derivations of the ancient name. There were many early Sidwells in the Devon area but later on they moved in the 16th century into Berkshire and Oxfordshire so that by the end of the 18th century the greatest concentration was in North Warwickshire. One of these Sidwells, George (1864-1948) became a brewery consultant to the Budweiser brewery in the USA.

A book on the legend of St. Sativola (Sidwell) talks about the name in its earlier form of Sidefulle, an Anglo-Saxon adjective meaning "full of virtue" or "perfect in behaviour" a true description of which applies to all Sidwells!
SIMKIN
SKETCHLEY
SMART
SMITH/SMYTH

The earliest spelling of Smyth features when Richard Smyth was a butcher in the Market Place in 1543/4. There was also a William Smith at the Market Place tenant of Eaton Chantry in the Constable Survey.
SOUTHERNE
SPARROWE
SPENCER
SQUELCH

STANLEY
STORER 

SUFFOLK

This name goes back to beyond the Hearth Tax in Nuneaton in the 1660’s. Many were silk weavers and they particularly lived in Abbey Street.
SWINNERTON
SYMONDS
TABERER

This family may have originated in Leicestershire or possibly South Derbyshire. The earliest recorded Taborer event was on 31st January 1776 when Thomas Tabbrar born in Measom (Measham) was examined as he sought settlement in Nuneaton with his wife Jane and three children. He was 35 years of age. In the 19th century there were several families of them including William Taberer (1803-1890), a journalist for the Coventry Standard. His grandson William Taberer (1855-1915) went into the printing trade and founded the Enterprise Printing Works in Nuneaton. William Austin Taberer was a builder with premises in Marlborough Road. The Taberers were leading Methodist townspeople.
TABERNER
TALCOTT

The Talcott name is one that existed in a huge variety of spellings, Tylecote, Taylcote, Tilecott, Tilcot, Tylecoate, Tailcote, Tylcott etc. 62 variants so far. They were in this locality in 1261 when Robert Talecock was recorded in Tamworth. The earliest local ones were recorded in Chilvers Caton as landholders in 1492/93. By the 1500s they were well established in Nuneaton, they disappear from our local register in the early 1700s when they move into Leicestershire.
TAYLOR

Thomas Taylor was a tenant of John Thompson in Caton End in 1543/44.

TEDD
THACKER
THOMPSON

There was a Ralph and Thomas Thompson in the Constable Survey of 1543/44 in Abbey End and the Market Place. John Thompson who seems to have tenanted several properties in Abbey End, Caton End, Market Place, Bridge Street and Church End.
THORNTON
TILSON
TOPP
TORBITT

It is thought that this family originated in Ireland, but there is a considerable mix-up with the name Talbot which makes researching them very confusing. The Nuneaton line seems to stem from Hardin Talbot (1735 - ) whose grandson John Torbitt (1795-1859)(but Talbot on marriage bond) married Catherine Bostock (1796-1883). They were butchers at Chilvers Caton in at least three generations. Hardin's grandson Benjamin Torbitt (1801-1883) was a miller at Fillongley and his son in law, Edmund Adcock took over that business. Another son Benjamin (1856-1879) died after falling in the Wash Lane brook. The Chilvers Caton Torbitts married into the Kelsey's and the Ormes.
TOWNS(H)END

There was a Felys Townsend in the Constable Survey of 1543/44. Tenant at Will in Abbey End.
TOVEY
TREVIS
TROTMAN

Anthony Trotman ( - 1703) of Bishopston in the county of Wiltshire was married to Miss Abigail Stratford at Nuneaton on 14th June 1662. They had thirteen children.

TRUSSEL
TUCKEY
TURNER
TWISWELL
VARNHAM
VEARES
VEASEY
VERNON
VINCENT

There are Vyncents in the Constable survey of 1543/44 co lessees of properties in Bridge Street.
WAGSTAFF

The Warwickshire Wagstaffs hail from Mottram and Dinting in Cheshire in antiquity. Having said that there is recorded a coal pit in the Haunchwood area of Stockingford in the 14th century worked by a man called Wagstaffe, and it is referred to as Wagstaffe's pit. This might be one of the earliest pits belonging to that group of coal workings latterly known as Haunchwood Collieries. In the 18th century there were two distinct family groups in Bedworth and Nuneaton and a common ancestor of these may be William Wagstaff who married Mary Biker in the 1630's thereby tying this line back to the more noble and armigerous branch in the south of the county. In the Nuneaton area they were notable victuallers Thomas Hollis Wagstaff (1818- ) kept the Bull Inn (now the George Eliot Hotel). The New Inn at Attleborough was kept by William Wagstaff. In the 18th century the Bull and Fleur de Lys pub in Bond End (not to be confused with either the Bull in Bridge Street or the Fleur de Lys at Chilvers Coton). In April 1997 the Wagstaff Society held its 10th anniversary annual meeting at the Gruff House Hotel, Nuneaton.
WALE
WALKER
WALTERS
WARD
WARDEN
WARMINGTON
WARNER
WATT(E)S

There was a John Wattes and John Wattes Junior mentioned in the Constable survey of 1543144. They had property Church End and Bond End, Bridge Street and Bakhouse Lane (probably Back Lane - now Back Street/Vicarage Street.

WARREN
WATERS
WATSON
WATTS
WEBB

Webb Street, Stockingford, received its name from the Rev. W.S.Webb, vicar of Stockingford. There was also a William Hickin Webb, ale and porter merchant in Church Street Nuneaton in the 1870's, agent and bottler for Allsopp and Bass ales, and agents for the Guaranteed Manure Co. - a strange combination! The earliest Webb I can trace appeared in the Constable Survey of 1543/1544. Richard Webbe who lived in Abbey End, Nuneaton.
WETTON
WHARTOP
WHATELEY (WHEATLEY)
WHEATCROFT

WHEWAY

The Wheways are a very interesting local family as in the 1800's 90% of them lived in the Nuneaton area. In the 17th/18th century the name was written Whewhae, Whewha, Wheeshaw and many variations. The spelling we are familiar with today was stabilised by John Whewha (1715-1785) the parish clerk. Wheways were parish clerks through several generations. The earliest so far discovered was John Whewhea (1686-1748) and John who married in 1717 both being contemporary but presumably collateral lines. It is probable that that the second John was the son of William Whewhaw of Sibson of Sibson in Leicestershire (?-1735) which is a few miles from Nuneaton. John's son James (1727-1810) married Mary Hastings at Lutterworth in 1850. By this marriage blue blood was introduced into the Wheway line. The Hastings were a very noble family who can trace their ancestry back to most crowned heads and noble families of Europe. Mary (Hastings) Wheway was the aunt of Hans Francis Hastings (4th Earl of Huntingdon).
WHITE
There was a William White of Weddington, leaseholder of the Ley Bottom with the Stokkynge and Tache Hall pastures in the Constable Survey of 1543/4
WHITEMAN
WILCOX
WOOD

YEATMAN
